UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-27-2012

Duspiva v. Fillmore Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38480

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a breach of contract case in which Appellant Gary Duspiva ("Duspiva") seeks payment for services rendered to Respondents Clyde Fillmore and John Fillmore ("Fillmores") for well drilling services. Fillmores filed counterclaims claiming that there was no contract between the parties, that Fillmores are entitled to equitable relief, and that Duspiva violated the Idaho Consumer Protection Act while performing well drilling services for the Fillmores.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

A three-day trial was held on August 23-25, 2010. After closing arguments, the district court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on October 18, 2010, in which it did not determine whether there was an agreement between Mr. Duspiva and Fillmores. Instead, the court concluded that the Fillmores were entitled to consider the agreement void under I.C. § 48-608 because Mr. Duspiva's failure to discuss the practice of screening wells to prevent sand from entering the water constituted an "unfair practice in violation of subsections (16), (17) & (18) of I.C. § 48-603" of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act. Record on Appeal ("ROA") at 299.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Duspiva, is a licensed well driller and owner of Gary Duspiva Well Drilling and Development. Record on Appeal ("AR"), Vol. II at 289, ¶2. Mr. Duspiva has drilled and completed 342 wells. *Id.* Mr. Duspiva is the only Idaho well driller certified as a Master Ground Water Contractor ("MGWC"). *Id.* Mr. Duspiva's business comes from repeat customers and customer

referrals. Transcript on Appeal ("Tr.") Vol. 1, p. 34, lns. 9-11.¹ Mr. Duspiva has been a director and president of the Idaho Ground Water Association and a member of its continuing education committee. *Id.*, p. 35. lns. 12-16. Since 2001, Mr. Duspiva has completed 392 hours of continuing education. *Id.*, lns. 17-20.

Clyde Fillmore and John Fillmore are father and son, respectively. Tr. Vol. 1a, p. 8, lns. 23-24. The Fillmores live next to one another in Wilder, Idaho. John wanted a domestic well drilled for his new home. Clyde had prior experience hiring a well driller to drill on his property. AR Vol. 11., p. 289, ¶5. Clyde undertook to hire a driller to drill a well for John. John left the decision as to whom to hire up to Clyde. Tr., Vol 1a, p. 9, lns. 6-8. The understanding between Clyde and John was that Clyde would make payments for well construction, and John would repay him at a future time. *Id.*, 3-5.

Mr. Duspiva and Clyde have known each other for many years. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 29. lns. 15-17. Clyde had seen Mr. Duspiva drill wells at sites where Clyde worked, and knew that he uses a cable tool drilling method. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 7, lns. 8-15. Clyde obtained a recommendation to hire Mr. Duspiva because he is a good well driller. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 7, lns. 8-25.

Clyde contacted Mr. Duspiva in April of 2007 to ask him to drill a domestic well. Tr., Vol. 1. p. 29. lns. 20-25. p. 36. lns. 1-9. Clyde and Mr. Duspiva met on June 11, 2007 to discuss well location and terms and conditions of drilling services. AR, Vol. II at 289, ¶6. At this meeting, Clyde

¹The original reporter's transcript lodged with the District Court consisted of three volumes, one for each of the three days of trial, referred to herein as Vol. 1., Vol. 2, and Vol. 3. Transcription of the proceedings and testimony on the morning of the first day of trial was not included in the original transcript. The reporter subsequently prepared and lodged a transcript for the morning of the first day of trial, referred to herein as Vol. 1a.

and Mr. Duspiva verbally agreed that Mr. Duspiva would drill a well for the Fillmores. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 10, lns 11-12.

John Fillmore was not present during the meeting. Tr., Vol 3, p. 10, ln. 20 - p. 11, ln. 1. Having deferred to Clyde to hire a driller, John did not have any discussions with Mr. Duspiva regarding the terms and conditions of drilling services (i.e. how the drilling would proceed, when it would begin, or the cost or type of the well.) *Id.*, p. 11, ln. 22 - p. 12, ln. 11. John testified that it was Clyde's role to communicate with Mr. Duspiva, oversee things, and bring information to John. *Id.*, p. 22, lns. 23-25.

During the July 11, 2007 meeting, Clyde informed Mr. Duspiva that he and his son wanted a domestic well to be drilled on son's property. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 37, lns. 2-3. Clyde informed Mr Duspiva of the well location he had chosen based on his review of county guidelines. *Id.*, p. 30, lns. 1-6. Clyde informed Mr. Duspiva that he was concerned about sand in his son's well, because his own well pumped sand, requiring him to replace his well pump every four years. *Id.*, p. 37, lns. 4-8. Clyde advised Mr. Duspiva that he would pay for well construction, but that the well would be owned by his son John. *Id.*, lns. 9-15. They did not discuss a specific depth for the well. *Id.*, p. 31, lns. 2-13.

Mr. Duspiva provided Clyde a written quote and verbal explanation of \$32.50 per foot of well depth, plus various incidental parts, materials, permit and development costs. The quote states that there would be an increase of \$2.00 per foot for every foot over 400 feet of drilling depth. Tr., Vol. 1, p 37, ln. 16 - p. 38, ln. 7; Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 18, lns. 3-13. Clyde made no comments to Mr. Duspiva regarding the quote. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 38, lns. 8-10. Mr. Duspiva advised Clyde that he did not guarantee the quality or quantity of water produced by the well. AR, Vol. II, p. 290, §8. Mr.

Duspiva explained that: "The footage price was whether it was a well or a dry hole, because my prices are for the service of drilling the well." Tr., Vol. 1, p. 39, lns. 17-19.

Mr. Duspiva's objective for the Fillmore well was to provide a reasonably sand-free well that would produce the volume of a normal domestic well. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 38, lns. 11-13. During the June 11. 2007 meeting. Mr. Duspiva explained to Clyde that his standard for a reasonably sand-free well is no more than a pinch of sand in a five gallon bucket of water. *Id.*, p. 10, ln. 20 - p. 11, ln. 3, p. 38, lns. 14-19.; AR, Vol. II, p. 289, §8. Mr. Duspiva explained to Clyde that he did not use screens when drilling wells to reduce sand in the water. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 38, lns. 20-22. Clyde testified that he recalled this discussion, but did not recall the extent of Mr. Duspiva's explanation. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 11, lns. 4-7. The district court found that, although Mr. Duspiva informed Clyde that he did not use screens, he did not further explain this practice. AR, Vol. II, pp. 289-290, §16. Neither Mr. Duspiva nor Clyde testified that Mr. Duspiva did not provide any further explanation for his practice of not using screens (i.e. explaining why he did not use screens). Mr. Duspiva was not asked during trial to explain why he did not use screens. Accordingly, the record does not support the district court's finding that Mr. Duspiva provided no such explanation during the June 11, 2007 meeting.

On June 11, 2007, after reaching agreement with Clyde Fillmore. Mr. Duspiva met with John Fillmore to obtain his signature on a "start card," a short form drilling permit application to submit to the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("IDWR"). AR, Vol. II, p. 290, ¶¶10-15,; Ex. 1. The start card lists the proposed start date as June 12, 2007, and the proposed maximum depth as 200 feet. It is not uncommon for wells to exceed maximum depth proposed on a start card. IDWR has no hard and fast rule requiring that well drillers not exceed the proposed maximum depth. Tr., Vol. 2. p. 149, ln. 22 - p. 151, ln. 21. The start card requires well construction to cease if the temperature

at the bottom of the well ("bottom hole temperature") reaches 85 decrees. *Id.* Mr. Duspiva faxed the start card to IDWR June 11th. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 43, lns. 5-8.

Mr. Duspiva began drilling the Fillmore well on June 12, 2007. AR, Vol. II. p. 290, ¶16. Mr. Duspiva encountered water at various depths. *Id.* at p. 291, ¶18. The water he encountered at depths less than 200 feet contained too much fine brown sand and/or did not produce sufficient water volume. *Id.*; Tr., Vol. 1. p. 44, ln. 1 - p. 45, ln. 13. When Mr. Duspiva reached 200 feet, he found no water, and informed Clyde that there was no water. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 45. lns. 14-23.

The next water-bearing layer that Mr. Duspiva encountered was at 320 feet. This was the first water-bearing layer he attempted to develop. *Id.*, at p. 45, ln. 24 - p. 46. ln. 1; AR, Vol. II, p. 291, ¶18. At this level he found three tablespoons of sand in a five gallon bucket, exceeding the criteria he discussed with Clyde. AR, Vol. II, p. 291. ¶18. As he continued to drill, he encountered water with sand exceeding the criteria at various depths. *Id.* While conducting development at 642-650 feet Mr. Duspiva used a thermometer to measure bottom hole water temperature of 72 decrees Fahrenheit. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 100, ln. 17 - p. 101, ln. 9. At each of these stages of development, Mr. Duspiva advised Clyde of the results, including drilling depth, rate flow, volume of sand in the water. and made a recommendation as to whether to complete the well or continue drilling. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 48, ln. 19 - p. 50, ln. 7, p. 101, lns. 18-22, p. 100, lns. 2-9; AR, Vol. II, p. 291, ¶19. Having advised Mr. Clyde that he did not use screens, during these updates Mr. Duspiva did not advise Clyde of the possibility of using screens to reduce sand in the water. AR, Vol. II, p. 291, ¶20.

At the conclusion of each update. Mr. Duspiva asked Clyde whether he wanted him to continue drilling. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 48, ln. 19 - p. 50, ln. 7, p. 101, lns. 18-22, p. 100, lns. 2-9. Mr. Duspiva always left the decision whether to continue up to Clyde. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 55, ln. 23 - p. 56,

In. 6. Based on Duspiva's updates and recommendations, each time Clyde instructed Mr. Duspiva to continue drilling. *Id.*, AR, Vol. II, p. 291, ¶20.

Clyde made his first payment of \$10,000 to Mr. Duspiva on August 3, 2007. Tr. Vol. 1a, p. 23. ln. 13 - p. 24, ln. 3; Ex. 2.

Below 701 feet, Mr. Duspiva did not encounter water until he reached 836 feet on August 8. 2007. AR, Vol. II, p. 291, ¶18. Ex. 4, p. 2. When he reached 836 feet, he felt that clay cuttings he removed from the well were warm, and used a thermometer to find that the temperature of the cuttings was above 85 degrees Fahrenheit, telling him that he was close to low temperature geothermal conditions. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 56, ln. 17 - p. 57, ln. 4, p. 102, lns. 6-22. At that point he discontinued drilling and used a probe to confirm that the temperature of the strata at that level was above 85 degrees. *Id.*, p. 58, ln. 23 - p. 59, ln. 8, p. 60, lns. 15-20. He also used the probe to measure strata temperatures 100 foot intervals in the well from 300 feet down to 800 feet. *Id.*, p. 105. ln. 10 - p. 106, ln. 10 - p. 107, ln. 1. These were not direct water temperature measurements or bottom hole measurements. *Id.*

Mr. Duspiva then set up to develop the water bearing layer at the 701 foot depth, where he found excessive sand and took a direct water temperature measurement showing a bottom hole temperature of 73 degrees Fahrenheit. *Id.*, p. 58, lns. 13-17, p. 102, ln. 24 - p. 103, ln. 17. He then provided Clyde with the results of the development and advised him that he could either obtain a permit for a low temperature geothermal well and drill down further, or attempt develop the well at the higher, 642 foot depth by perforating the casing, with a risk that the well could collapse and be ruined. *Id.*, p. 60, ln. 20 - p. 61, ln. 6, p. 103, ln. 19 - p. 104, ln. 1. Clyde then instructed Mr. Duspiva to contact IDWR to pursue drilling deeper. Id., p. 61, ln. 7; AR, Vol. II, pp. 292-293, ¶28.

The next day, August 9, 2007, Mr. Duspiva contacted IDWR agent Rob Whitney to inform IDWR that LTG conditions were encountered and that Mr. Duspiva wanted to continue drilling to complete the well. Mr. Whitney asked Mr. Duspiva to submit information on the conditions of the well in order to develop a plan to properly complete the well. Mr. Duspiva complied with that request by submitting an as-built drawing of the plan to Mr. Whitney the same day. Tr., Vol. 2, p. 122, ln. 18 - p. 125, ln. 14; Ex. 4; AR, Vol. II, p. 293, ¶30. After receiving the as-built, Mr. Whitney advised Mr. Duspiva to submit a prospectus as to how the well would be completed and a long form permit for approval to drill a low temperature geothermal (LTG) well. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 63, lns. 8-14, Vol. 2, p. 127, ln. 20 - p. 128, ln. 4.

That same day, August 9th. Mr. Duspiva met with Clyde and discussed the need to obtain a low temperature geothermal permit from IDWR in order to continue drilling. Tr., Vol. 32, lns. 4-7. p. 33, lns. 17-24. Pursuant to Clyde's request, Mr. Duspiva provided Clyde with an itemized invoice for Mr. Duspiva's services to date totaling \$32,191.00. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 27. ln. 11 - p. 28. ln. 5: Ex. 3: AR. Vol. II, p. 292, ¶24. Clyde never questioned or contested the charges on invoice to Mr. Duspiva. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 30, lns. 9-16, p. 34, lns. 3-10. After talking with Mr. Duspiva and receiving the invoice. Clyde instructed Mr. Duspiva to continue drilling. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 33, ln. 25 - p. 34, ln. 2: Tr. Vol. 1, p. 26, ln. 16 - p. 27, ln. 2.

On August 15, 2007, Mr. Duspiva provided IDWR a prospectus showing how he would complete the well. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 61, lns. 17-19, p. 63, lns. 6-11.

On August 16. 2007. Mr. Duspiva provided John Fillmore with a long form permit for a LTG well with a proposed maximum depth of 1,000 feet, which John signed. *Id.*, p. 63, ln. 12 - p. 65. ln. 24; Ex. 6; AR, Vol. II, p. 293. ¶31. IDWR received and approved the permit application on August

20, 2007. Tr., Vol. II, p. 134, lns. 1-9. Ex. 6. Rob Whitney informed Mr. Duspiva that he could continue drilling. *Id.*, p. 138, lns. 4-6.

Mr. Duspiva then resumed drilling, updating Clyde as he encountered additional waterbearing layers, as he had previously. Tr., p. 68, lns. 7-25; AR, Vol. II, pp. 293-294, §34.

On September 13, 2007, Clyde hand delivered to Mr. Duspiva a second payment of \$10,000. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 35, ln. 19 - p. 36, ln. 5, p. 43, ln. 22 - p. 44, ln. 7; AR, Vol. II, p. 294, ¶36. He did not at that time tell Mr. Duspiva to stop drilling. Tr., Vol. 1a, p. 36, lns. 10-13.

Mr. Duspiva finished drilling on September 26, 2007. AR, Vol. II, p. 294, ¶37. After additional development work, Mr. Duspiva recommended, and Clyde agreed. to have a pump test performed, which was completed on October 10, 2007. Upon completion. the well was 1130 feet deep, produced 17 gallons per minute, and produced water that was 102 decrees with a slight sulfur smell. *Id.* IDWR approved a completion plan submitted by Mr. Duspiva. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 72. lns. 13-16.

The final amount due for Mr. Duspiva's services. after Clyde's two \$10,000 payments. was \$30,665. *Id.*, p. 72, lns. 19 - 25; Ex. 15.

From June 12 until October 10, 2007, Mr. Duspiva was on the Fillmore property nearly every day either drilling or developing. At no time did Mr. Duspiva ever refuse to provide the Fillmores with information. At no time did the Fillmores ever complain about Mr. Duspiva's service or instruct Mr. Duspiva to stop working. Neither of the Fillmores ever informed Mr. Duspiva that a LTG well would not meet his John's needs. To the contrary, they both authorized Mr. Duspiva to pursue completion of the well as a LTG well.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- a. Whether there was an agreement for the Fillmores to pay Mr. Duspiva for the drilling services he performed.
- b. Whether the district court erred in finding that Mr. Duspiva's actions violated the Idaho Consumer Protection Act.
- c. Whether the district court erroneously applied the remedial provisions of I.C. § 48-608(1).
- d. Whether the district court erred in allowing Edward Squires to testify as an expert witness.

ARGUMENT

I. Agreement, Ratification and Breach

A. Fillmores Agreed to Pay Mr. Duspiva for his Drilling Services

"Generally, the inquiry by the trier of fact into an alleged oral agreement is three-fold: first, determining whether the agreement exists; second, interpreting the terms of the agreement; and third, construing the agreement for its intended legal effect." *Elec. Wholesale Supply Co., supra,* 136 Idaho 814, 823, 41 P.3d 242, 250-251, citing *Bischoffv. Quong-Watkins Props.,* 113 Idaho 826, 828, 748 P.2d 410, 412 (Ct. App. 1987).

The existence of an agreement between the Fillmores and Mr. Duspiva is not disputed. Fillmores acknowledge that, on June 11. 2007. Clyde Fillmore and Mr. Duspiva entered a verbal agreement for Mr. Duspiva to drill a well for the home of Clyde's son John. Fillmores claim that Clyde authorized and agreed to pay Mr. Duspiva only to drill a cold water well that did not exceed a depth of 200 feet. The evidence clearly shows that the agreement was not so constrained.

The uncontroverted testimony at trial establishes that, on June 11, 2007, Clyde and Mr. Duspiva met to discuss the terms and conditions for drilling services. Clyde chose the location of the well. Clyde advised Mr. Duspiva that he would pay for well construction, but that it would be

owned by his son John. Clyde said nothing about a maximum depth for the well or expected water temperature. Clyde said he was concerned about the possibility of sand entering the well.

Mr. Duspiva clearly communicated the following terms and conditions for his services: (1) \$32.50 per foot of well depth, plus various incidental parts, materials, permit and development costs; (2) an increase of \$2.00 per foot for every foot over 400 feet of drilling depth; (3) Mr. Duspiva did not guarantee the quality or quantity of water produced by the well; (4) Mr. Duspiva did not use screens to prevent sand from entering the well, and (5) "[t]he footage price was whether it was a well or a dry hole, because my prices are for the service of drilling the well." Mr. Duspiva also explained that his standard for a reasonably sand-free well is a pinch of sand in a five-gallon bucket.

On June 11, 2007. Clyde Fillmore accepted these terms for Mr. Duspiva's drilling services and authorized Mr. Duspiva to proceed.

Long after the agreement was entered, in order to justify non-payment, the Fillmores contradict these terms and attempt to limit to the agreement based on Clyde's unexpressed expectation that the water from the well would be cold, and the proposed 200 foot maximum depth of the well identified on the "start card" that was prepared by Mr. Duspiva and signed by John Fillmore. Clyde's unexpressed expectation cannot form the basis for the agreement, particularly when it is completely inconsistent with the expressed condition that Mr. Duspiva did not guarantee either the quality or quantity of water that would be produced.

This Court has recognized that, due to the uncertainties inherent in drilling underground for water: "In a contract for drilling a water well, there is no implied undertaking that water will be obtained or that the well will be a success as to the quantity or quality of the water obtained, but only that the work shall be done in a workmanlike manner with the ordinary skill of those who undertake

such work." *Durfee v. Parker*, 90 Idaho 118, 121, 10 P.2d 962, 963 (1965), quoting *Knoblock v. Arenguena*, 85 Idaho 503 (1963).

B. Mr. Duspiva Performed the Agreed-Upon Well Drilling Services.

Mr. Duspiva drilled the well for the Fillmores in accordance with terms and conditions of the agreement reached between himself and Clyde on June 11, 2007, and he did so in a workmanlike manner. Mr. Duspiva showed up on time, completed his work in a timely and diligent manner, provided the Fillmores with frequent updates, obtained their authorization prior to proceeding at multiple stages of the work, always responded to questions and requests. and was readily accessible and responsive to the Fillmores and to IDWR throughout the process.

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