UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-22-2012

Duspiva v. Fillmore Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38480

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

Mr. Duspiva argues on appeal that Mr. Ed Squires' testimony should have been excluded. However, Mr. Duspiva fails to explain the complete background behind Mr. Squires' testimony. Mr. Squires was not a paid expert retained by the Fillmores. Mr. Squires appeared as a witness to explain in general about well drilling and hydrogeology. Mr. Duspiva objected to Mr. Squires offering any opinion as to Mr. Duspiva's drilling or Mr. Duspiva's negligence. At a motion in limine hearing prior to trial, the court indicated it would not allow Mr. Squires to testify about Mr. Duspiva or offer any opinions as to Mr. Duspiva's negligence. Tr. vol. 3, p. 60, L. 23-25. However, the court indicated Mr. Squires would be helpful to the court in understanding well drilling testimony and information. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 6, L. 5-9. The court indicated that it was likely Mr. Squires could offer information helpful to both Mr. Duspiva and the Fillmores. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 29, L. 15-17. Counsel for Mr. Duspiva was told to make "...specific objections in trial if you believe there is some opinion testimony coming in that relates to issues that were not disclosed to you." Tr. Vol. 3, p. 37, L. 22-25, p. 38, L. 1. Counsel for Mr. Duspiva acknowledged his agreement with this process:

"...I'll make my objection and you'll rule, and then the case will move on."

Tr. Vol. 3, p. 60, L. 18-21.

The court ended the motion in limine hearing with specific direction to both parties that the court would not allow testimony as to Mr. Duspiva's negligence, but that Mr. Squires could describe the well drilling process and educate the court on the technicalities of well drilling. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 61, L. 5-9.

In Mr. Duspiva's brief, he points to not a single statement by Mr. Squires at trial that was contrary to the court's direction. As Mr. Squires started to testify, counsel for the Fillmores reminded him that he could not testify as to Mr. Duspiva's negligence. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 57, L. 8-11. Mr. Squires verbally acknowledged that he would not do so. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 57, L. 16. Mr. Squires testified as to well drilling in general and his own experiences in drilling and hydrogeology. He explained that LTG water is not desirable for a domestic well. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 95, L. 11-16. He explained the use of screens and filter packs and explained that they are not difficult to install. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 88, L. 17-19. Mr. Squires was never asked any questions nor offered any testimony about Mr. Duspiva. Mr. Squires never uttered Mr. Duspiva's name. In fact, the only time Mr. Duspiva's name even came up in Mr. Squires' testimony was when Mr. Duspiva's counsel asked about Mr. Duspiva. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 98, L. 19-22.

Most telling about the appropriateness of Mr. Squires' testimony is that Mr. Duspiva's counsel only objected <u>one time</u> during Mr. Squires' testimony. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 97, L. 10. That objection was directed to a question about a well drilled by another driller. *Id.* When Mr. Duspiva's counsel objected, the court reminded Mr. Squires about avoiding any opinion testimony about Mr. Duspiva, and Mr. Squires followed that direction. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 97, L. 14-18. Mr. Squires' testimony was absolutely consistent with the court's ruling, and Mr. Duspiva acknowledged this by not raising a single objection at trial except for the one objection regarding another well that Mr. Duspiva did not drill. The court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law related to Mr. Squires' testimony do not even mention Mr. Duspiva. R. Vol. 2, p. 295-297. Mr. Squires' testimony related solely to his experience and expertise with well drilling, the use of screens and filter packs, and hydrogeology.

Nor was Mr. Squire's testimony the only evidence at trial about these subjects. Mr. Squires' testimony was consistent with much of Mr. Whitney's testimony and his report, as well as the testimony of Tom Neace, another IDWR employee. Mr. Whitney and Mr. Neace are both employees of the IDWR who were involved in the issues surrounding the Fillmore well. R. Exhibit A. Mr. Whitney is a senior water resource agent whose duties include regulation of well construction. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 122, L. 1-4. Mr. Neace is the manager of the IDWR Ground Water Protection Program and supervises well drilling, geothermal resources, and well driller licensing. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 186, L. 17-21. Mr. Neace testified that it was standard industry practice to install filter packs and screens to address sand. Tr. Vol. Vol. 2, p. 192, L. 8-18. Mr. Squires confirmed it was not difficult to install screens, and that he almost always did so. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 88, L. 17-29. Interestingly, not only did Mr. Duspiva not object to the testimony of Mr. Squires, Mr. Whitney, or Mr. Neace, Mr. Duspiva, who testified that he was a "Master Groundwater Contractor" with extensive experience, did not contradict or offer any rebuttal to the testimony of Mr. Squires, Mr. Whitney or Mr. Neace as to drilling techniques, hydrogeology, or industry standards related to the use of screens and filter packs to address sand. In fact, it was Mr. Duspiva's own testimony that established the fact that there was an abundance of cold water at much less depth than the 1130 feet Mr. Duspiva drilled to and hit 102°F water.

The record is clear that the district court gave careful attention to the issue of Mr. Squire's testimony before trial. The court limited Mr. Squires' testimony by precluding any testimony about Mr. Duspiva. The court made every effort to ensure the court understood the technical issues surrounding well drilling. The court instructed Mr. Duspiva's counsel to object if any testimony was an opinion that had not been disclosed, and Mr. Duspiva's counsel agreed. Mr. Duspiva's counsel raised only a single objection at trial. Further, Mr. Duspiva offered no

rebuttal testimony to Mr. Squires' testimony. Mr. Squires' testimony was consistent with testimony by IDWR witnesses Rob Whitney and Tom Neace as to well drilling information including the industry standard for screens and filters. His testimony aobut the presence of LTG conditions was consistent with Mr. Duspiva's own testimony that he encountered an abundance of cold water at depths much less than the 1130 feet Mr. Duspiva drilled. The district court noted the benefit of Mr. Squires' testimony to both parties and the court. There was simply no error in admitting the limited testimony of Mr. Squires. Raising the issue of Mr. Squires' testimony on appeal is frivolous, unreasonable, and lacks any foundation.

Further, except for the noted one objection to a matter that did not relate to the Duspiva drilled well, Mr. Duspiva did not object to any of Mr. Squires' testimony at trial. Mr. Duspiva has waived any objection on appeal. It is long settled law that a party cannot remain silent at trial and later raise objections for the first time on appeal. Notwithstanding that the district court did not abuse its discretion, Mr. Duspiva cannot challenge Mr. Squires' testimony at this point. *Woods v. Sanders*, 150 Idaho 53, 59, 244 P.3d 197, 203 (2010).

E. The Fillmores Did Not "Ratify" the Terms of An Agreement to Drill a LTG Well.

Mr. Duspiva asserts that the Fillmores somehow ratified an agreement to drill an LTG well because they never told Mr. Duspiva to stop drilling. The assertion strains credulity and is inconsistent with testimony at trial. Mr. Duspiva's argument seems to be that his agreement with the Fillmores was nothing more than for him "to drill". According to his theory, he drilled, so he should be paid whether it was reasonable or not. The fact the well was a LTG well that did not meet IDWR well drilling standards is irrelevant to Mr. Duspiva, as is the fact the Fillmores never once indicated they sought an LTG well.

The record is clear that Mr. Duspiva and the Fillmores agreed Mr. Duspiva was retained to drill a domestic well. It was to be 200 feet maximum depth according to the permit Mr. Duspiva obtained and used to drill the well. There was never any agreement to drill a LTG well. In fact, the Fillmores did not even know what the term meant until after the well was drilled as a LTG well. Tr. Vol 3, p. 23, L. 1-6. They only learned about LTG and LTG wells because IDWR told them in October, 2007. R. Exhibit A. Mr. Duspiva hid the details until after he had drilled the illegal LTG well. The fact is that Mr. Duspiva's problem with having drilled into LTG conditions really became problematic when IDWR refused to grant him a variance from complying with IDWR rules and standards. The IDWR had had enough of Mr. Duspiva's violations of the rules. The agency ultimately issued a Notice of Violation. Yet Mr. Duspiva persists in arguing that regardless of the fact there was an agreement to drill a domestic well, regardless that the permit for the well was for 200 feet maximum depth, regardless of the fact that he did not bother to inform the Fillmores or IDWR until after the well was drilled into LTG conditions, and regardless of the fact that it was Mr. Duspiva, not the Fillmores, who drilled the illegal LTG well, the Fillmores somehow "ratified" an agreement to drill the LTG well simply because they did not tell him to stop.

The Fillmores explained that they did not tell him to stop because Mr. Duspiva kept recommending to drill deeper, and they had no reason not to accept his recommendations. However, the Fillmores testified that had Mr. Duspiva been truthful about the LTG situation, they would have instructed him to stop. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 25, L. 14-17. The fact is that there was never any agreement to drill a LTG well, and Mr. Duspiva's assertion there was an "agreement" to do so based on the fact the Fillmores did not tell him to stop drilling – based on Mr. Duspiva's recommendation – is frivolous.

Even if there had been such an agreement, it would be void and unenforceable.⁶ Idaho scrupulously follows the rule that contracts for acts forbidden by law are void and unenforceable. *Kunz v. Lobo Lodge, Inc.,* 133 Idaho 608, 990 P.2d 1219 (Ct.App. 1999), (citing *Tiffany v. Boatman's Savings Inst.,* 85 U.S. (19 Wall) 375, 384, 21 L.Ed. 868, 869 (1973); *Harris v. Runnels,* 53 U.S. (12 Howard) 79, 83, 13 L.Ed. 901, 903 (1851)). Idaho law follows the trend that any contract made for the purpose of furthering any matter or thing prohibited by statute is void. *Porter v. Canyon County Mut. Fire Ins. Co.,* 45 Idaho 522, 525, 263 P. 632, 633 (1928). Moreover, Idaho case law does not allow courts to consider between whether an act was *mala in se* or *mala in prohibita* when confronted with an act that violates Idaho statute. In *Kunz,* the court noted that:

... so far as contracts in violation of statute are concerned, there is no distinction between acts *mala in se* and acts *mala in prohibita* [W]here a statute intends to prohibit an act, it must be held that its violation is illegal, *without regard for the reason of the inhibition ... or to the ignorance of the parties as to the prohibiting statute.* (Emphasis added).

Kunz at p. 611; citing, 17 Am. Jur. 2D Contracts §251 (1991). The Kunz court left no doubt

regarding the application of this rule by holding that:

No principal of law is better settled than that a party to an illegal contract cannot come into a court of law and ask to have his illegal objects carried out; ... the law in short will not aid either party to an illegal contract; it leaves the parties where it finds them. The general rule is the same at law and in equity and whether the contract is executory or executed.

Kunz at p. 611; citing, Hancock v. Elkington, 67 Idaho 542, 548, 186 P.2d 494, (1947).

⁶ Mr. Duspiva's breach of contract assertions are based on his illegal drilling activities. It is also well settled law that consideration given in violation of the law or public policy is not valid consideration. *State v. Clark*, 102 Idaho 693, 638 P.2d 890 (1981).

According to Rob Whitney's report, testimony by Mr. Whitney, by Tom Neace, and based on Mr. Duspiva's own submittals and testimony, the well was not constructed to IDWR LTG well construction standards. Even Mr. Duspiva admitted he drilled the well in contradiction of Condition 8 of the Start Card Permit and IDWR well drilling rules. Even if Mr. Duspiva thinks there was a contract allowing him to recover for these illegal actions, such a contract would not be enforceable.

F. The Court Did Not Misapply the Idaho Consumer Protection Act.

Mr. Duspiva argues the court misapplied the Idaho Consumer Protection Act ("ICPA") by: (1) not determining that there was an agreement between the Fillmores and Mr. Duspiva, and (2) treating remedies under I.C. §48-608(1) as "cumulative". Neither argument reflects the court's findings or ruling.

Contrary to Mr. Duspiva's argument, the court did find an agreement between the Fillmores and Mr. Duspiva. It was an agreement to drill a cold water, domestic well of 200 feet at \$32.50 per foot. The court likewise made findings that there were three specific facts dealing with LTG issues and one related to screen and filters, that Mr. Duspiva knew about at the time of the agreement to drill the domestic well that the Fillmores did not know about. Fact one was that there was a likelihood of reaching LTG conditions. R. Exhibit A, R. Vol. 1, p. 291; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 155, L. 18-21. Fact two was that a LTG well is inferior to a cold water domestic well for domestic purposes. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 95, L. 11-12. Fact three is that a LTG well requires increased costs and obligations. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 130, L. 1-4. Fact four is that the common industry practice is to use screens and filter packs to address sand in a well. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 192, L. 8-18; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 12, L. 8-14. This further confirms that there was no "agreement" for a LTG well because, by

definition, if the Fillmores did not know about these facts, they could not have agreed to them. This clearly rebuts any assertion there was an agreement to drill a LTG well.

Mr. Duspiva's second argument is that the court treated ICPA remedies as cumulative. This is incorrect. The court's ruling simply acknowledges that the Fillmores would be entitled under the statute to treat any agreement with Mr. Duspiva as void. The court's ruling also acknowledged that the Fillmores were entitled to sue for actual damages, which they did. The court awarded the Fillmores their actual damages. There was nothing cumulative about the court's application of the ICPA. Mr. Duspiva's argument leads to the illogical result that a party could violate the ICPA by deception and dishonest practices such as Mr. Duspiva's, but keep any ill-gotten gains resulting from the deception. The option of voiding a contract that violates the ICPA would typically apply where a deceived party has not yet been damaged, but would be if the contract were allowed to stand or alternatively, where a party sought specific performance of a contract that violated the ICPA. Here, the Fillmores incurred \$27,500 in actual damages, and the court correctly applied the remedial provisions of the ICPA by awarding the Fillmores their actual damages.

G. The Court Should Award the Fillmores their Attorney Fees and Costs on Appeal.

In his appeal, Mr. Duspiva has advanced nothing more than the same arguments he did below. He simply asks this court to second-guess the district court as to factual matters. Mr. Duspiva points to not a single finding of fact by the district court that is clearly erroneous and is not supported by substantial and competent evidence. Moreover, Mr. Duspiva's assertion that the district court failed to apply a deception standard derived from the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) flies in the face of the factual findings made by the court. The assertion of a FTC deception standard is also raised for the first time on appeal. This court does not consider substantive matters raised for the first time on appeal. *Michalk v. Michalk*, 148 Idaho 224, 220 P.3d 580 (2009).

Mr. Duspiva argues on appeal that Mr. Squires should not have been allowed to testify <u>at</u> <u>all.</u> The district court limited Mr. Squires' testimony and precluded any testimony about Mr. Duspiva. Except for one time, Mr. Duspiva's counsel never objected to Mr. Squires' testimony at trial. The issue of whether Mr. Squires should have been allowed to testify at all is being raised for the first time on appeal. The assertion also contradicts the very procedure agreed to by Mr. Duspiva's counsel in the district court proceedings.

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